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December 21, 2007

VIA FACSIMILE (303) 530-6444

Honorable R, Alexander Acosta
Linited States Attorney

United States Auorney’s Office
Southern District of Florida

99 NI dth Street

Miami. FL. 331352

Re: Jeffrey Epstein
Dear Alex:

We apain extend our appreciation for meeting with us on December 14 and for carctully
. considering the issucs we have raised both at that mecting and in our submissions to vour Oflice.
Having received your letter of December 19, we can sec that you have made a significamt cffort
to address our concerns regarding the § 2255 portion of the non-prosecution agreement (the
“Agreement”). and we recognize that you have proposed some substuntial and  important
modifications.  Respectfully, however. T would supgest that your proposal raiscs several
troubling questions that require carclul consideration. We are authoring this letter to respond to

your request that we set forth our position regarding §§ 2255 and 3771 as quickly as possiblc.

As we have all discavered. the prablem of intcgrating in an unprecedented manner what
is at its core a $150.000 minimum lump sum damage federal civil statute (§ 2255 in its current
Jorm) into 4 lederal delerred/non-prosecution agreement that requires pleas of guilty to state
crimvinal offenses that are corrclated to state criminal restitution statutes but not 10 a disparate
federal civil non-restitution statute has proved very challenging. The concomitant problem of
how fairly to implement the § 2255 portions of the Agreement so that real victuims, if any, who in
luct sullered “personal anjury as a result of [the] violaton™  if any  of specificd tederal
criminal statutes such as 18 LLS.CL § 2422(h) arc placed in the same position as if there had been
a trial and conviction also requires serious and carcful consideration.  In this letter. T want to
highhght some specific concerns. See also Whitley Opinion.

First, vour proposal regarding the § 2233 remedy provisions continues o ask ug to
assume that each and every woman not only was a victim under § 2255, but that the facts alleged
could have been proven o satisfy cach element of cither § 2422(b)  (the Internct turing statute)
or § 24723 (the sex-tourism statute), within § 2255 of Title 18, Although we have been denied the

Chicago Hong Kong London Los Angeles Munich San Francisco Washington, D.C.

RFP MIA 000041



12/21/2%do 8108 {A80736-KAM ' Document 403-4 Entered on FLSD Docket 06/02/2017 P&§e°3/5 8

o

KIRKLAND & ELLIS LLP

‘ © 0 RC Alexander Acosta

December 21, 2007
Page 2

list of allcged “victims™ (and lack delinitive information as to which federal statutes would serve
as a predicate for each particular alleged vicuim). or even a fimy number as 10 how many you
sugpest there are, we strongly believe that the provable conduct of Mr. Epstein with respect 1o
these individuals fails to satisly the requisite clements of either 18 USC § 2422(b) (which we
understand from prior discussions (0 be the principal predicate offense upon which the § 2255
provisions rely) or 18 USC § 2423(b) (another predicate ol § 2255 that has been the subject of
discussions between the parties). See Sterm Opinion. We belicve that the problem arises [rom
the incongruity that exists when attempting to it a federal civil remedies statute into a eriminal
plea agreement.  Again, | note that this problem could have been avoided had the government
opted instead for a restitution fund as we sugpested.

Our knowledge of the “hist” of alleged vicums is limited  However a prototypical
example of a witness whom the government has requested we compensate and we believe is
inaccurately labeled as a “vietim™ ol a federal crimes ‘'whom we have been told
remains on the government’s “hist™). The transcript of her interview with the Palm Beach 'olice
over a year before the FBI became involved in any investigation shows that Ms.
admitted 1o lying about her age. that she did not engage in sexuval mtercourse with Mr. Epstomn,
and that she was never induced over the iclephone. computer or any other means of
communication required by § 2422(b). In fact, Ms. Hnmc to Mr. Epstein’s home on

. only one occasion. She testified that she was inlormed aboulThe opportunity (0 give a4 massage

to Mr. Epstcin not on a telepbone. computer or any other facility of interstate commerce. but
rather in a face-to-lace discussion with a third party who was her friend (Ms. _und who
told her to lie 1o Mr. Fpstein about her age.  As such. it is simply impossible 10 shochorn this
conduct into any ol the above-discussed federal statutes.

In addition, Mr. Ipstein did not know of Ms. before she actually came to his
home. did not induce or persuade her to come by phond)s otspeak 1o her at all by phone prior
to her visit, did not induce or persuade Ms. o bring an underage girl (o his residence,
and did not otherwise violate cither the federal Statute § 2422(b) nor the travel for the purposc
statute § 2423(b). Indeed. in her statement. Ms, Htcslilicd: ““laley told me to say 1 was
I8 because Haley said . . . if you're not then he [Epstem] won't really let you in his house. So |
said | way 18,7 (_:worn Statcment at 38-39). In fact. there is no cvidence that Mr.
Lpstein expected an underage girl to visit bim prior to his regular travel 1o Florida. his home of
fifteen years.  Thus the travel could not have been for the purpose of having illegal sexual
contact and § 2423(b) 18 no more available us 1 predicate lor § 22585 recovery than is § 2422(b).
Never having reached the threshold violations enumerated under of § 2255, Ms.‘—would
stll have 1o prove that she suffered a personal imury. Further, unknown (o Mr. Epstemn at the
time, Ms. epresented herself 1o be 18 pot enly to hiun but also 1o the pubhic on her web
page wherc™ sted a nude photo clearly looking at least I8 years old.

At the December 14 meeting. we also discussed ||| s cvblematic of our

concerns surrounding the government s sclection of “victims.” As you are aware, Ms. -
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was identified in previous correspondence as a person who remained on the Government’s list of
“viclims™ cven after (at least according w Ms. Villafana's Jetter) the list was subjected to carcful
multi-party review.  Ms.. [ svworn stacment clearly refleets the fact that she is not a
“vichim™ under § 2422(b). She plainly admits that she sulfered no injury; the conduct was
consensual: she licd to Mr.. Epstein about her age: she instructed others to lic about their ages:
there was no sexual contact between hersell and Mr. Epstein at any time: and there was never
any inducement over the telephone. computer or through any other means of inlerstate commercee
We ask that you consider the most relevant highlights from her testimony otfered below:

»  (Conscnt
Az 1 said. 1 wld Jellrey, | heard you like massages topless,  And he's like. yeah, he
said. but vou don't have o do anything that vou don't feel comlortable with. And |
said okay. but 1 willingly took it oI, (S wom Statement at 10)

* Lied About Her Age

A: .. 1 had a fake 1D anvways. saying that | was 18, And she just said make sure
vou're 18 because Jelfrey docsn’t want any underage pirls. (-Sworn Statement

. at 8)

A: ..ol eourse. he thought 1was I8, .. (-\'wm'n Statement at 13)

L S R

= Instructed Others to Lic About Their Ages

A: ... 1 would tell my girlfriends just like mappmachcd me. Make sure you
tell him you're 18, Well, these girls that I b T know that they were 18 or 19 or
20. And the girls that | didn't know and 1 don’t know il they were lying or not, |
would say make sure that vou tell bt you're §8. ('-Sw'om Statement at 22)

o

* No Sexual Contact
Q: He never pulled you closer to him in a sexual way?

Az L wish. No, no, never, cver, ever, no, never. Jellrey is an awesome man, no.
('-S worn Statement at 21)

= No Inducement

A: No_ I gave Jeffrey my number. And | said. you know. any time you want me 1o
eive you a massage again, I'l more than welcome to, -Swom Statement at 8)
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A: Every girl that 1 brought to Jeffrey. they said they were line with it And like, Tor
insrance. a lot of girls begged me to bring them back.
They wanted to come back for the money. And as far as | know. we all had fun there.

‘wnrn Statement at 43)

The sworn testimony ol contains explicit denials from the alleged “victim™
herself that she suffered any physical. emotional. or personal injury as required by the express
language of § 2255, Further, the sworn testimony of Ms. [JJjcontains a complete disavowal
that Mr. Epstemn or anvone on his behall used a facility ol interstate commeree (o knowingly
persuade. cocrce, entice, or induce her to engage in sexual offenses as required by § 2422(b).
[ikewisc. the transcript provides no basis for a § 2423(b) violation in that Mr, Epsicin had a
residence in Patlm Beach for over 10 years at the time ol these events. traveled to Palim Beach for
a myriad of legitimate reasons ranging from medical appointments to business appointments
having nothing to do with a sexual nbjulm, and could not be legally charged with traveling to
his own home particularly in the absence of any provable nexus between the travel and a
dominant purpose to engage in illicit sexual conduct.  Although Ms. Villafana informed us
during the December 14 mecting that she had a telephone ol record showing an out-ol=state call

‘ 10 or from Ms. Yhone to a phone number associated with Mr. [ipstein, such a record fails
to prove the content of the call. the identity of the communicitors. whether the call discussed or
resulted o plan lor M, *lu visit Mr, Epstein’s residence, whether any inducement
accurred on the out of state call or. more importantly for purposes of the sex tourism statute.
whether any travel was planned o Florida or resulted from the phone call. Ms. -
testimony s that she behieved that at any time she was called by Mr.. Epstein or anyvone on his
behalll Mr. Lpstein was alrcady in Florida,  She also testiticd 1o the absence of any sexual
contact other than luplcs‘s massages (topless massages are lawful in Florida at age 16, unless the
definition of prostitution is unnaturally expanded). A complele transcript nl the federal interview
of Ms. [JJiias previously been provided to you.

Your wish to put these women in the same position as they would have been had there
been o federal conviction assumes they are each legitimate victims ol at least one of the two
specific federal erimes cnumerated under § 2255, 'We respectfully have to disagree with that
assumption, and cven your cusrent formulation ol § 2255 would prejudice Mr. Epstein in this
regard.

Second. your proposal also clTectively deprives Mr.. Epstein of his opportunity 1o test the
validity of these womens™ claims  claims that would have been extensively tested at trial. In

light of what we have already fearned about _md ”il is inappropriate
to deny Mr.. Epstemn and his counsel the right o test the merits of each ol these womens™ cases.

in order to verify that they in fact suffered “personal injury™ as required by § 2255 and to assess
whcther they are in Fact victims of any violations of § 2422(b) or § 24253(b) as also required by
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coained on a reduced list of federal

§ 2235, Given yvour Oflice’s informing us that Ms.
as well was one of those who is also

“vicums” and given our understanding that Ms,
on the hist of persons the Government contends were victims of Mr. Epstein’s alleged violation
of federal law, we have a principled concern about adopting your recommended language which
would leave Mr. Epstein without a basis to challenge the good faith premise ol an application to
recover $150.000.

Third, the Agreement. even if modilied in accord with your December 19 letter. would
put the witnesses in a better position than il Mr. Epstcin had been federally prosecuted rather
than in an cqual position and. in fact, encourages the withesses to make unfounded claims with
impunity. Had there been a conviction, these women would have been thoroughly cross-
examined. Tor the veracity of their statements, their credibility and the foundations, i any. for
claiming personal injury.  Also. Mr, Epstein would have received, pursuant to cither Brady or
Jencks, material in the form of prior inconsistent statements made by these women before they
learncd of any financial benefit that may be available to them-—evidence that should be
considered in determining the eredibility of their application for a substantial civil recovery.
Furthcrmore, Mr. Epstein would be withoul the means o challenge whether the claimant could
make out a prima facie case that she was a victim of a violation by Mr. Epstcin of § 2422(b) or
any other federal statute-a denial of his rights that would insulate potential claimants such as Ms.

. B Ms. _ from any challenge on this clement even i under other circumstances a
© challenge would result 1n a summary judgment in Mr. Epstein’s favor under Fed. R, Civ. P. 56,
Lastly. the modificd language recommended by you presupposes that Mr. Epstein would have
been charged and convicted ol substantive violations rather than charged and convicted ol a
conspiracy allcgation.  Conspiracy convictions are not amongst the predicates enumerated by
§ 2258 and do not. without more, result in the basis lor a determination of “personal injury™.
Since our request to view the dralt indictment was rejected on December 14, we have no mieans

10 know what it contained by way of allegations.

Fourth, | want to respond to several statements in vour letter that we believe require
immediate correction. With regard 1o your first footnote, I want to be absolutely clear. We do
not helieve for one moment that you had prior knowledge of the AUSA s attempt o require us to
hire the Inend of her hve-in bovinend. and pay s fees on a contingency basis to suc Mr.
Epsticin. We pealize you corrected that irregular situation as soon as you discovered it.  We
thought this was precipitated by our complaint. but have no real knowledge as to the timing of
events.  Furthermore. your letier also suggests that our objection o your Oflice’s proposed
victims notification [ctier was that the women identified as victims of federal crimes should not
be notified of the state proceedings. That is not true. as our previous letier elearly states. Putting
astde our threshold contention that many of those to whom 3771 notification letters are intended
are in fact not victims as detined in the Attorney General’s 2000 Vicom Witness Guidelines—a
status requiting physical. emotional or pecuntary injury of the defendant-——it was and remains our
posiion that these women may be notified of such proceedings but since they are neither
witnesses nor victims to the state prosceution of this matter, they should not be informed of

RFP MIA 000045




12/21/2%%5e H0BLEA80736-KAM  Document 403-4 Entered on FLSD Docket 06/02/2017 P&4@°7/808

g »

KIRKLAND & ELLIS LLP

AY
.) R, Alexander Acosta

Pecember 21, 2007
Page 6

fictitious “rights™ or invited (0 make sworn wrillen or in-court testimomal statcments against Mr.,
Epstein at such proceedings. as Ms.. Villafana repeatedly maintained they had the right to do.
Additionally, it was and remains our position that any notification should be by mail and that all

Agreement should finally come to an end. We agree, however, with your December 19
modification of the previousiy dralied lederal notification letter and agree that the decision as to
who can be heard at a state sentencing is. amongst many other issucs, properly within the acgis
of state decision making. '

Your December 19 letter  references  Professor Dershowitz™s  position on  the
inapplicability of Florida Statute § 796.03. Professor Dershowity. made such arguments in the
context of saying that he had been unable to discern, after great cllort, and supported by vears of
cxpericnec, any basis for the application of § 2422(b) or other federal sex statutes to Mr.
Epstein’s conduct and that the Tederal statutes required more ol a streteh 1o 11t the tacts than the
proposed state statute to which Ms. Villalana wanted Mr. Epstein o plead.  Prolessor
Dershowitz also stated that Ms. Vidlalana had represented that it was she who had the facts to
support, both the threatened federal charges ol § 2422 and/or § 2423 and  the proposed state
charge of § 796.03 (which the parties understood 1o be the state charge of soliciting a minor. as
Ms. Villalana's last fetter clearly states). Only fast week we learned for the first time that Ms.

‘\ Villafana did not realize that the charge was actually for “procuring™ not “soliciting™.  The
' charge (8 pimp statute) of procuring a prostitute for a third party for financial gain is one for
* which Ms. Villatana now states she does not have the tacts to support.

Furthermore. you suggest that we have purposclully delayed the date of Mr.. Epstein's
ples and sentencing in breach of the Agreement and now scek an “1Hith hour appeal™ in
Washington. 1 belicve we have already responded to this objection satisfactorily, both in our
discussion carlier this week and in the email | sent 1o you two days ago in which 1 specifically
addressed this issue. Indeed. any impediment to the resolution at issuc is 4 dircet cause of the
disagreements between the partics as o a common interpretation of the Agreement. and we have
at all umes made and will continue o make sincere cllorts to resolve and linalize issues as
cxpeditiously as possible. In fact, since the initiation of negotiations between Mr.. Fpstein's
counscl and your OfTice. we have always proceeded in o tinely manner and inade seversl cllorts
to meet with the attorneys in your Office in person when we believed that a face-to-face meeting
would facilitate a resolution.

Finally, the suggestion by vour sfl that you hold Mr. Epstein in breach of the
Agrecement by his failure 10 plea and be sentenced on October 26, 2007 is dircetly contradicted
by Mr.. Sloman’s c-mail 1o me dated October 31 in which he states. ~ Your understanding from
Jack Goldberger conforms to-my understanding that Mr.. Epstein’s plea and sentence will take
place on the samce day. | understand that the plead and sentence will oceur on or betore the
Joanuary 4th date.™ This has been our common understanding for some time. which we have now
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reiterated several times. With that said. please be advised that we are working {or a quick
resolution and do not seck to delay the proceedings.

Thank you again lor your time and consideration. We look forward 1o your response to
the concerns we have raised that have not yet been addressed.

[ wish vou a very happy and a healthy new vear.

Smcercly.,

- 4
H s

P
.'. ,.—./_ ~ /,-',/.{
s
14y P. Lelkowitz

Honorable Alice Fishoer, Assistant Atorney General

[V e
Jeftrey 11 Sloman. First Assistant U.S. Atiorney

)
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